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I. INTRODUCTION
  While ancient alchemists attempted vainly to change base metals into precious gold and silver, [FN1] western state supreme courts of the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries actually succeeded in creating new wealth through the transformation of legal doctrine. These courts reconfigured Hispanic mining law, which in the pre-1846 Southwest had protected public access to minerals,  [FN2] into a privatized property regime giving exclusive--and invaluable-- subterranean rights to the owner of the soil above. This jurisprudential shift began with decisions involving John C. Fremont's Las Mariposas land grant in the Sierra Nevada foothills of central California, *58 and later holdings extended privatization to New Mexico, Arizona, and Texas. [FN3] The lawyers and judges who participated in unifying the surface and mineral estates did so despite their awareness that the doctrine was inconsistent with the Spanish and Mexican property rights guaranteed by the Treaty of Guadalupe Hidalgo, and with Anglo-American common law as well. This disregard for applicable precedent promoted industrial entrepreneurship at the expense of public resource access and of the environment. [FN4]
  In contrast to the current rule giving surface proprietors absolute subsurface rights, the Hispanic legal regime assumed sovereign ownership of all precious minerals. [FN5] The medieval Spanish law code, the Siete Partidas, considered that a royal land grant did not convey mines to the grantee unless they were expressly included in the patent conferring the grant. [FN6] To promote mining operations in the New World, the crown conceded prospecting and usufruct of ores to Spanish subjects in return for a fifth (later a tenth) of output. [FN7] This system encouraged production while relieving the government of costs, [FN8] and served the larger purpose of supporting imperial expansion. [FN9] By the mid-eighteenth century, Spanish mineral law had developed an elaborate procedure for the discovery and official registration of subterranean rights, [FN10] which the crown expressly enacted in New Spain (colonial Mexico, including the future American Southwest). [FN11] The power of royal officials to monitor *59 mining concessions closely was in accordance with the Spanish communal policy of controlling and allocating natural resources for the common good. [FN12] After 1821, independent Mexico maintained government ownership and the usufruct process, [FN13] both in law and customary practice. [FN14] Coincidentally, traditional English and American common law also considered precious minerals to be sovereign property. [FN15]
  Most scholarship on these western mining decisions has merely summarized them, ignoring the flouting of Hispanic law and the cultural forces militating towards judicial imposition of absolute subsurface title. [FN16] The one historical analysis discussing these cases' incompatibility with Spanish and Mexican tradition does not attempt to explain why judges ignored U.S. treaty obligations nor whether they did so intentionally. [FN17]
  A deeper look at the mineral privatization process would be in line with contemporary legal historians' focus on the significance *60 of precedential distortion. Judge Richard Posner has called on scholars to compare judicial opinions with lawyers' briefs, in order to determine jurists' "scrupulousness with respect to the facts of record and the arguments of the parties."  [FN18] In a study of early nineteenth-century judge and commentator Chancellor James Kent, Professor Alan Watson shows how Kent often inaccurately cited Roman law to provide impressive "window dressing" for his opinions and treatises. [FN19] And my own work on Hispanic water law in state courts has demonstrated that judges consciously mischaracterized communal water-sharing traditions to mandate exclusive municipal and landowner control. [FN20] Similarly, an analysis of the American treatment of the prior mineral law regime in the South-west can help us understand why public subsurface access was abandoned, and the implications of that abandonment for more intensive exploitation of the western landscape.
  Using primary sources, including case files, personal memoirs, and newspaper accounts, this Article explains the historical reasons for western supreme courts' willingness to disregard applicable Hispanic and common law precedent. Part II considers how cultural influences, exemplified by the outlook of the Fremont family, may have affected judicial thinking. Part III examines the California Supreme Court's initial receptiveness to the Spanish and Mexican tradition of government mineral ownership. Part IV analyzes the reversal of this trend, despite judges' knowledge that surface and mineral estate unity was inconsistent with Hispanic legal doctrine. Part V explains how this privatization doctrine spread to other states. In Part VI, I conclude that in the Fremont cases and their progeny the courts knowingly violated the Guadalupe Hidalgo treaty to justify exclusive mineral use, and I discuss the historical impact of these decisions on land use and the environment.
II. GOLDEN FANTASIES AND THE NEW GRANDEES
  After the 1848 U.S. annexation of Mexico's northern territories, the new Anglo elite idealized an aristocratic, Arcadian "Spanish" *61 past in popular histories and fiction. [FN21] Such an idyllic myth was inconsistent with the reality that most Hispanic people remained economically and socially subordinate. [FN22] But this cultural attitude of American transplants to mid-nineteenth-century California and the Southwest fostered judicial manipulation of Hispanic mining law.
  The work of journalist, novelist and poet Bret Harte, who lived in California from 1854 to 1871, epitomized this romantic notion. His writings depicted a pageant in which the energetic Spanish conquistadores gave way to the effete Californios (native-born Hispanic Californians), who were unable to exploit the region's mineral and agricultural potential, and who were finally displaced by vibrant, acquisitive Americans. [FN23] Harte described how "[t] he proprietors of the old ranchos ruled in a patriarchal style ... ignorant even of the treasure they were sent to guard," until their world was rent by "[a] political and social earthquake." [FN24] In fact, much of this account of a feudal ranchero lifestyle was fabrication: most rancho owners were not wealthy enough for ostentation, and generally worked long days with their families. [FN25]
  Though indulging a nostalgic wistfulness for the Hispanic period, Harte considered contemporary Californios currently degenerated and incapable of capitalizing upon the new state's mineral wealth. One of his characters states, "Show to me now the Mexican that has ever made a real of a mine in California." [FN26] Other writers expressed similar racial sentiments as well as class prejudices. In an 1871 short story, "El Tesoro" (the treasure), a legendary Spanish mine is discovered by a common Anglo cowhand, who conveniently dies and wills it to a young lady from a wealthy American ranching family, his ideal of beauty and refinement. [FN27] *62 According to the mythmakers, Anglo landowners were the proper inheritors of the treasure that Hispanics never fully appreciated or developed.
  Romantic tales about lost mines awaiting rediscovery were not limited to California, but flourished throughout the formerly Mexican Southwest. In 1864 the Arizona Miner characterized local silver prospecting as a revival of earlier, abandoned efforts, claiming that "when the Pilgrim fathers were struggling with barbarism upon the shores of New England, Spain established an empire amidst her newly found wealth and drew millions from the very region where the Anglo-Saxon is now erecting a second era of civilization." [FN28] Similarly, an 1874 promotional pamphlet for New Mexico Territory asserted that the eighteenth-century Jesuits had "carefully covered up the traces" of their mining efforts, leaving "tons of hidden treasure ... buried within the bosoms of [New Mexico's] majestic mountains." [FN29] And as late as 1908, the Fort Worth Telegram in Texas reported that "an old Mexican on his deathbed" had divulged the secret location of a gold and silver mine worked briefly under Spanish rule. [FN30] Such accounts of once-productive but now deserted mines were vastly overblown, for modern historians have found that mining in the Hispanic Southwest had always been meager, due to capital shortage and Indian hostility. [FN31] Yet as in the case of California, these tales fed the desires of American entrepreneurs to develop the subterranean wealth of their recently acquired realm. [FN32]
  The archetypical post-Conquest Anglo grandee was John C. Fremont, explorer, politician, and owner of the Las Mariposas estate, a former Mexican land grant in California's gold rush country. Fremont's reputation as a military surveyor of the Far West in the 1840s was boosted by his marriage to the former Jessie Benton, *63 daughter of powerful Missouri senator Thomas Hart Benton. [FN33] During the California phase of the Mexican War, the young officer assisted the "Bear Flag" rebellion of Anglo settlers and accepted the local forces' surrender at Cahuenga in 1847. [FN34] Following the end of hostilities, Fremont enjoyed a long career in public life, which included a brief stint as a senator in 1850, an unsuccessful presidential bid as an antislavery Republican in 1856, a generalship during the Civil War, and a term as governor of Arizona Territory from 1878 to 1881. [FN35] Pertinent to our discussion, he purchased the Las Mariposas rancho in 1847 from its original grantee, former governor of Mexican California Juan Bautista Alvarado.  [FN36] Two years later, gold-bearing quartz was discovered on the site,  [FN37] and extraction operations were begun with milling and amalgamation machinery. [FN38]
  But John and Jessie Fremont were more than prominent landowners. They consciously generated about themselves an image of aristocratic entitlement which partook of the prevailing cultural notion that the new Anglo elite were the natural successors of the Hispanic landholding dynasties. John C. Fremont wrote of the Californios that "each one had the old Spanish pride in his personality, for every ranchero was a grandee of the country." [FN39] And the Fremonts fully and purposively embraced this same outlook.
  For example, on her way to meet her husband at Las Mariposas in 1849, Jessie Fremont rested in Panama, where, according to her reminiscences, she stayed with one of the "old Spanish families ... [that] retained unspoiled the traditions of their mother land." [FN40] She corresponded, in Spanish, with General Mariano Guadalupe *64 Vallejo, one of the wealthiest Californio landowners and a former military opponent of her husband. [FN41] Once settled on their estate, the Fremonts established a lavish lifestyle, dressing either as southern plantation owners or as old Californios, [FN42] and entertaining such popularizers of Hispanic California as Richard Henry Dana and Bret Harte. [FN43] Their mining operations were carried out by Sonoran prospectors, characterized in John C. Fremont's 1856 presidential campaign biography as "respectable Spaniards--many of them already wealthy." [FN44] In fact, these workers were simply gambusinos, or practical miners; there is no evidence that any of them were particularly affluent. [FN45]
  The Fremonts augmented their identification with "Spanish" landowning elites with the belief that they possessed an absolute property right to their estate's underlying gold, which assertedly could not be "exhausted in centuries." [FN46] Ironically, they presumed this alleged mineral title in disregard of actual Hispanic law, which provided that subsurface precious metals did not run with the land, and of the U.S. Supreme Court, which expressly declined to resolve the mineral ownership issue when it confirmed the Las Mariposas grant in 1854. [FN47] So when Anglo miners occupied portions of the tract in 1858, claiming the right to prospect under Mexican and California state law, Jessie Fremont accused them of having only "vague ideas as to rights in property," and of using "the color of law for robbery."  [FN48]
  According to biographer Andrew Rolle, the Fremonts took on the trappings of chivalry as a psychological defense against perceived threats to their upper-class status. [FN49] They felt reassured by *65 pretending, in Rolle's words, that John C. Fremont "was the knight; the squatters were mere peasants." [FN50] In addition, his fantasies may have originated as compensation for his illegitimate parentage in the antebellum South, where such descent was considered scandalous. [FN51] Whatever the basis for the Fremont family's myths, their elitist identification and claim to exclusive gold ownership drew upon the prevailing romanticism about Spanish dons and their unexploited treasure. As I will demonstrate, this cultural climate also influenced the lawyers and judges involved in litigation over the mineral rights to Las Mariposas. What is less immediately obvious is the extent to which the courts knowingly distorted Hispanic law for policy purposes.
III. THE PUBLIC OWNERSHIP PHASE IN CALIFORNIA, 1848-58
  When the United States annexed the Southwest following the Mexican War, the initial American legal structure recognized the existing law of the newly conquered area. The 1848 Treaty of Guadalupe Hidalgo, by which Mexico formally relinquished its northern territories including California, [FN52] guaranteed that rights to property previously under Mexican jurisdiction would be respected. [FN53] To implement the treaty, Congress passed the California Land Act of 1851, which set up a three-member commission to adjudicate the validity of private land claims "by virtue of any right or title derived from the Spanish or Mexican government." [FN54] In making these determinations, the land commissioners were to be governed by the Guadalupe Hidalgo treaty, the law of nations, "the laws, usages, and customs of the government from which the claim is derived," equity principles, and U.S. Supreme Court decisions.  [FN55]
  The legislative history of the Land Act indicates the intended *66 narrow scope of the confirmation process. One senator commented that the treaty guaranteed the Californios "exactly that property to which they were entitled" under Hispanic law, and did not "enlarge the rights of claimants." [FN56] Another senator considered that the Land Act was "not a bill the design and intention of which is to confer titles, but to ascertain who is in possession of titles." [FN57] If a land grant confirmation could pass only an interest valid under Spanish or Mexican law, this limitation would preclude a surface owner's claiming subsurface rights.
  The question of mineral ownership in the new state of California was brought to the fore by conflicts between miners and agriculturalists over access to land. [FN58] Establishing the parameters of acceptable land use in the early 1850s, the California legislature tended to favor mining interests, [FN59] at this point largely individual prospectors and small partnerships. [FN60] In the Possessory Act of 1850, settlers were allowed to preempt 160 acres of public land, but settlement was prohibited on "lands containing mines of any of the precious metals." [FN61] This statute was amended two years later to authorize prospecting on land already preempted for grazing or agriculture.  [FN62] The implicit message of the Possessory Acts, consistent with Hispanic law, was that mining was a privileged economic activity deserving government protection.
  In line with the thrust of this legislation, the 1853 California Supreme Court decision of Hicks v. Bell [FN63] gave judicial sanction to public mineral ownership. Hicks involved two groups of miners, a prior and a later contingent, who contested the rights to a claim on the Yuba river.  [FN64] After the trial court ruled for the first arrivals, the second group appealed, arguing that the disputed portion of the premises had been occupied, and was public land open to all claimants. [FN65] The prior miners replied that the federal government had ceded all minerals in streambeds to the state.  [FN66] They also *67 maintained that according to local mining custom, partial possession of a claim constituted possession of the whole, [FN67] and that the state had authority to enforce such rules under its police power.  [FN68]
  Writing for a majority of the state supreme court, Justice Solomon Heydenfeldt affirmed, broadly holding that "[t]he mines of gold and silver on the public lands are as much the property of this State, by virtue of her sovereignty, as are similar mines in the lands of private citizens." [FN69] California legislation had thus properly allowed local custom to be applied to the resolution of claim disputes, [FN70] so the earlier prospectors should prevail. [FN71] Heydenfeldt's public mineral access position was completely consistent with Hispanic sovereign proprietorship, although he cited only common law sources such as Blackstone in the opinion. [FN72] Journalists quickly grasped the meaning of the ruling, with one asking rhetorically, "Should not the people congratulate themselves upon the acquisition of so splendid a heritage, and that its proprietorship had been placed in their own hands and subject to their own control?" [FN73]
  California Supreme Court cases subsequent to Hicks followed that decision's holding that the state owned precious minerals. In Stoakes v. Barrett [FN74] and McClintock v. Bryden, [FN75] the court held that state sovereignty over gold mines permitted any individual to prospect on public lands, even if these were already occupied for agricultural or grazing purposes. As in Hicks, the justices did not rely directly on Hispanic law, although one of the Stoakes parties cited the Guadalupe Hidalgo treaty  [FN76] and the McClintock court stated generally that control of valuable metals had been "the admitted policy of the different governments of the world." [FN77] These cases left open the question whether, notwithstanding the state's ownership of the gold, prospectors could enter private land to extract it. [FN78]
  *68 When the Las Mariposas litigation reached the state's highest court, the justices initially relied on Spanish and Mexican law and articulated a broad vision of public mineral rights. Pursuant to the California Land Act, John C. Fremont's title to the estate was confirmed by the Land Commission in 1852, [FN79] and this finding was upheld by the U.S. Supreme Court in 1854. Writing for the majority, Chief Justice Roger B. Taney expressly avoided the subsurface issue, stating that "whether there be any mines on this land, and if there be any, what are the rights of the sovereignty in them, are questions which must be decided in another form of proceeding, and are not subjected to the jurisdiction of the commissioners or the court, by the act of 1851."  [FN80] Two years later, President Franklin Pierce issued Fremont a patent for the property. [FN81]
  It was the 1855 resurvey of the grant, embracing gold-bearing areas not within the original 1849 survey, that triggered conflict with local prospectors. [FN82] One group of the latter, organized as the Merced Mining Company, obtained an injunction against Fremont and his agents entering the company's claim, which included the valuable Mt. Ophir quartz reduction works.  [FN83] Attempting to acquire possession of Mt. Ophir, which was within Las Mariposas as resurveyed, [FN84] Fremont leased that portion of the property to his caretaker, Biddle Boggs, who initiated an ejectment action in April, 1857. [FN85] At a public meeting in the town of Mariposa, Merced's attorney, S.W. Inge, condemned Fremont for "seeking fraudulently to monopolize the mines, which are the property of the people." [FN86] Despite this popular opposition the trial court ruled that Boggs was entitled to possession, based on the premises being within his lessor's *69 patented land grant. [FN87]
  On appeal, attorney Inge argued for Merced that under Hicks and its progeny, gold and silver mines were state property, which could be occupied and appropriated by any person willing to work them. [FN88] Inge's co-counsel, the Cook & Fenner firm, supported state ownership with references to Mexican and English sovereign mineral rights. [FN89] Fremont lawyers Joseph Baldwin and former California Supreme Court Justice Solomon Heydenfeldt countered with their own characterizations of Hispanic and common law doctrine. They contended that Mexican land grants passed precious metals to the grantees [FN90]--a position at odds both with Hispanic law and with Heydenfeldt's own state sovereignty holding in Hicks. Baldwin and Heydenfeldt also cited Blackstone to the effect that English land grants conveyed minerals, [FN91] but conveniently neglected to mention that the Commentaries clearly stipulated that all gold and silver mines belonged to the king. [FN92] Finally, they maintained that even if the state had title, it had never licensed entries onto private property for prospecting, [FN93] a position which disregarded the 1852 Possessory Act's categorical authorization of just such mining. [FN94]
  In January, 1858, a majority of the supreme court reversed the trial judge and held for Merced in the first Biddle Boggs v. Merced Mining decision, strongly asserting public subsurface rights. Going beyond Hicks, Stoakes, and McClintock, Justice Peter H. Burnett's opinion explicitly referenced Hispanic as well as common law, finding that Mexico had reserved minerals, leaving "a right of property in the nation." [FN95] Deviating somewhat from the California precedents, the justices went on to rule that the gold had passed from Mexico to the U.S. Government, rather than to thestate. [FN96] They concluded by addressing the scope of entry issue left open by the previous decisions, squarely holding that federal authority had created *70 a "general license" to mine on private land, and that Merced could therefore prospect within Las Mariposas. [FN97] In a brief concurrence, Chief Justice David S. Terry commented that it was not necessary to decide whether subsurface rights were retained by the United States or by California, for in neither instance would the gold belong to Fremont. [FN98]
  Reactions to the case differed according to the interests affected. The former sheriff of Mariposa County, John Boling, sided with the miners. He maintained that they were merely trying to prevent Fremont "from wrenching, by force or otherwise, the hard earned labor of those men who have in good faith acquired their possessions." [FN99] But a Fremont partisan lamented that the ruling dealt "a heavy blow to the prosperity of a large portion of the county." [FN100] Landowning interests were now concerned not only with traditional agricultural uses, but with extractive opportunities as well, as they eyed underground veins "of fabulous richness, besides placers not yet half wrought, beyond calculation." [FN101]
  In the face of bitter ideological conflict, the state supreme court had placed Hispanic and common law doctrine behind its affirmation of public mineral ownership. But government sovereignty over the subsurface estate had reached its high-water mark. After the decision, the high court's personnel changed: Justices Burnett and Terry resigned and were replaced by Joseph Baldwin, who had represented Fremont (via Boggs), and by W.W. Cope. [FN102] The third justice was Stephen J. Field, the lone dissenter in the first Biddle Boggs case, and this new composition must have appeared propitious to the losers. Indeed, Fremont attorney Solomon Heydenfeldt filed a rehearing petition in March, 1858, dramatically warning that "civilization itself" depended "upon the security of property," which if destroyed would result in "the barbarian life of the wilderness." [FN103] The rehearing was granted, and by July the parties were back in court.
*71 IV. PRIVATIZATION IN CALIFORNIA, 1859-61
  The rehearing of Biddle Boggs v. Merced Mining Co. resulted in a judicial reevaluation of pre-Conquest precedent and a move towards the privatization of mineral wealth. In this second case the litigants intensified their dispute over the content and applicability of Hispanic subsurface doctrine. For Merced, the San Francisco firm of Halleck, Peachy, & Billings [FN104] defended Burnett's ruling with exhaustive citations to Spanish and Mexican legal sources, detailing the separate nature of surface and mineral estates and the government reservation of the latter from land grants. [FN105] Hispanic law also supported a general prospecting license, because sovereign gold and silver ownership was subject to the "right of the public to search and dig."  [FN106] Merced's brief considered that these doctrines were not altered by the change to U.S. sovereignty, [FN107] and noted that Congress's 1851 California Land Act was not intended to confer any new titles on land grantees. [FN108] The brief concluded with socioeconomic policy arguments, urging the court not to benefit "the unjust pretensions of rich landed proprietors" at the expense of nine-tenths of the state's inhabitants, i.e., smaller mining companies and independent prospectors. [FN109]
  The Fremont interests countered, in a brief by D.W. Perley, with an entirely novel contention. Civil, or Roman, law had originally considered minerals within private grants to belong to the landowner, but "the mines were seized under various pretenses by the sovereigns of Spain," and Mexico perpetuated these "despotic ordinances." [FN110] Perley went on to assert that "these prerogative laws" were inconsistent with U.S. policy, that they were "annulled by the *72 conquest," and that "[t]he civil law became necessarily revived," but cited no authority other than the supposedly obsolete Hispanic legal sources. [FN111] He then maintained that Fremont's U.S. patent for Las Mariposas not only confirmed the land, but also relinquished the government's title to "anything the land contains." [FN112] Finally, Perley nebulously invoked the Guadalupe Hidalgo treaty's property guarantee, which he claimed would be violated if Fremont were "divested of a single square foot within the area of his patent." [FN113]
  In a reply brief, Merced attorney S.W. Inge rebutted some of these contentions. Perley's characterization of Roman law, whatever its accuracy, was irrelevant, for both sides now agreed that the Spanish and Mexican regimes considered gold mines to belong to the government. [FN114] Since no civil law principle of private subsurface ownership had ever obtained in Mexico, Inge queried as to "how ... that could be revived that never had existed?"  [FN115] And on the policy issues, Fremont's assertion of absolute property rights was merely an "iniquitous attempt ... to monopolize the mineral wealth of the state." [FN116]
  Stephen J. Field, now Chief Justice, wrote for a two-judge California Supreme Court in a move towards limiting public access. Because Justice Baldwin had argued the case as one of Boggs' attorneys, the court postponed consideration of the mineral ownership question--an issue "of great magnitude and importance," but not essential to the resolution of the appeal--until it could be presented to the full bench. [FN117] Nevertheless, Field went on to hold that, even if the gold were federally or state owned, neither government could license miners to enter private land to extract it. [FN118] Disregarding the parties' extensive briefing on the Hispanic open prospecting laws, the Chief Justice considered any U.S. interest subject *73 to the regulatory power of the state, which had not legislatively authorized public mining on private premises. [FN119] Finally, Field reflected the romantic pretensions of the Fremonts and their lawyers about absolute property prerogatives when he asked rhetorically, "What value would there be to a title in one man, with a right of invasion in the whole world?" [FN120] In addition to ruling on the license issue, the Court found no basis for Merced's allegations that Fremont had fraudulently surveyed the estate, and that he was estopped from asserting title due to repeated disclaimers, but these holdings are not pertinent here.  [FN121]
  Why did the California Supreme Court reverse itself so soon? In a contemporaneous pamphlet entitled The Gold Key Court or the Corruptions of a Majority of It, the anonymous author, an "Ex-Supreme Court Broker," alleged that after the first Biddle Boggs ruling, Fremont gave Justice Baldwin $100,000 to have the case reheard and gave Field $50,000 to obtain a favorable result.  [FN122] These bribery allegations have been repeated by Field biographer Carl B. Swisher, but are ultimately unprovable. [FN123] And although it is apparent that twenty years after the decision, Field and Fremont corresponded as friends regarding their earlier days in frontier California, [FN124] there is no direct evidence that their relationship influenced the outcome in second Biddle Boggs.
  Clearly, however, Hispanic law had been distorted in Perley's brief for Fremont, and ignored in Field's holding. These misinterpretations were likely deliberate, for the Merced briefs cited Spanish and Mexican legal sources correctly, and these works were easily accessible in libraries to California attorneys and judges of the day. [FN125] Accurate portrayal of the previous sovereign's law had to *74 give way to the overriding policy goal of stabilizing land titles. As Field commented near the end of his opinion, if the license theory were to be upheld, "the proprietor would never be secure in his possessions, and without security there would be little development ...."  [FN126]
  Mining as well as landowner advocates immediately recognized the implications of the Biddle Boggs decision. In a four-part article in San Francisco's Daily Alta California, G. Gilchrist criticized the Court for running roughshod over Hispanic law, the Guadalupe Hidalgo treaty, and public mineral access.  [FN127] Aware of the prior land tenure system, Gilchrist attacked Field for clothing "conditional and restricted Mexican grants with 'allodial privileges."' [FN128] He considered that the Guadalupe treaty and the Land Act guaranteed landowners "only the interests that Mexico gave them."  [FN129] The result was a policy that "aggrandizes the large holder at the cost of the working occupant." [FN130]
  On the other side, an Alta editorial noted that, although the justices limited themselves to denying the general public a right of entry for prospecting, "there [was] plainly manifest ... a leaning toward the declaration that the title to the land possesses the title to the precious metals which it contains." [FN131] The Alta urged the federal and state governments to relinquish explicitly all mineral rights, in order to encourage economic stability and investment. [FN132] But Stephen J. Field and the California Supreme Court did not wait for legislative action, and shortly forged the last link in the chain of privatization.
  This final step was taken by Field in his 1861 decision, Moore v. Smaw and Fremont v. Flower. [FN133] Here, Fremont was joined by R.B. *75 Moore, a Butte County landowner, also asserting title derived from a Mexican grant, when both brought ejectment actions against gold miners. [FN134] The trial court ruled for the plaintiffs, [FN135] and on appeal both proprietors attempted to justify absolute subsurface title by referring to Hispanic law.
  Briefing Fremont's case, attorney C.T. Bottsclaimed that the Spanish royal ordinances opened the mines to private ownership via discovery and registry. [FN136] But rather than citing specifically to the ordinances, Botts merely alluded to an argument characterizing them in the contemporaneous New Almaden litigation, [FN137] probably because the original source, Gamboa's Commentaries, explicitly stated that mineral rights always remained with the crown. [FN138]
  Similarly, Botts' brief for Moore extravagantly analogized the Hispanic system to American preemption, because the former invested individuals "with an exclusive and indefeasible title to the mines of gold and silver." [FN139] Botts cited no authority whatsoever for this proposition, [FN140] which was flatly contradicted by the scholarly Halleck, Peachy & Billings brief in Biddle Boggs which Botts himself had quoted two pages previously. [FN141] In response to these arguments, Flower simply maintained that Spanish and Mexican mineral sovereignty either passed to California, according to Hicks, or alternatively resided in the United States. [FN142]
  Now writing for a full three-justice supreme court, Field accepted Flower's description of pre-Conquest Hispanic law, but then propounded the novel theory that precious metals ultimately became *76 the surface owner's property. Revealing a thorough understanding of the Spanish and Mexican authorities, including the Siete Partidas, Gamboa, and Lares, Field admitted that gold and silver were vested in the sovereign and not conveyed by ordinary land grants.  [FN143] With the Guadalupe Hidalgo treaty, he continued, these minerals passed with all other Mexican national property to the United States.  [FN144] The Chief Justice considered, contrary to Hicks, that subsurface rights did not devolve to the state, and that in any event the resolution of the mineral ownership question was unnecessary for the disposition of that case. [FN145]
  According to Field, the legal basis for privatization was established by the California Land Act of 1851. The Land Act, he asserted, set up a grant confirmation and patenting process which did not depend upon the character of the claims--they could be legal, equitable, specific tracts, or "floating" amounts within larger boundaries. [FN146] Field could now also find that there was nothing in the Land Act "restricting the operation of the patents ... to the interests acquired from the former Government" since the patents were to issue "without words of reservation or limitation." [FN147] The Chief Justice concluded that the U.S. patent of a confirmed Mexican land grant conveyed both the surface and the precious metals beneath, which would "pass with the transfer of the soil in which they are contained." [FN148] He defended this interpretation as consistent with the goal of the Land Act: to settle private land claims "by placing them, so far as the Government is concerned, beyond controversy." [FN149] And indulging his absolutism about property rights, Field quoted Blackstone's statement that land included "not only the face of the earth, but everything under it or over it." [FN150]
  In Moore and Fremont, the Court went beyond Biddle Boggs to unite the surface and mineral estates explicitly, and did so by distorting applicable precedent. First, Field incorrectly described Hicks as mere dicta on mineral ownership. In fact, that decision's finding of state sovereignty was central to its conclusion that California had *77 the authority to regulate the mines.  [FN151] More significantly, while the Chief Justice was clearly knowledgeable about Mexican subsurface doctrine, he ignored the implications of the Guadalupe treaty and the 1851 California Land Act. Field was certainly aware of the treaty's property guarantee, and had been presented in Biddle Boggs with the Halleck, Peachy & Billings brief's legislative history of the Land Act showing that the statute was not intended to confer any new titles.  [FN152] In fact, his reminiscences show he knew that the reality of Mexican land titles and his privatization holding were inconsistent: he conceded that "the court had no discretion to enlarge or contract such grants to suit its own sense of propriety." [FN153] Finally, Field mangled common law as well, for while quoting from Black-stone on a surface owner's absolute mineral rights, he disregarded that authority's insistence that gold and silver mines always belonged to the king. [FN154]
  As for public sentiment, the generally pro-landowner Daily Alta California lauded the Moore and Fremont decision, trumpeting that the surface proprietorship of minerals was now "authoritatively established." [FN155] Indeed, Field's ruling marked the culmination of California mining law's movement from the Hispanic principle that gold under private land was a public resource to the doctrine that precious minerals were the preserve of the surface owner. Throughout this process, many litigants, lawyers, and judges were influenced by romanticized views of pre-Conquest California's auriferous wealth and estate-based society--views that contrasted sharply with the more accurate accounts and legal authorities available.
  Initially, the Supreme Court had validated Spanish and Mexican public mineral rights, considering them within state jurisdiction in Hicks, and later deeming them federally administered in the first Biddle Boggs decision. Under Field, however, the Court changed direction, *78 prohibiting the mining public from entering private land in the second Biddle Boggs, and firmly establishing the surface owner's exclusive title to precious metals in Moore and Fremont. In writing the latter opinions, the Chief Justice intentionally disregarded applicable Hispanic law, the Guadalupe treaty, and the Land Act, preferring to emphasize the sanctity of property and the policy of stabilizing land tenure.
  Surface proprietorship of minerals is still the rule in California today, having been most recently affirmed in the 1955 federal district court decision of Blue v. McKay, [FN156] which applied state law. In Blue, the court held that the U.S. Interior Department properly refused to issue a lease for the oil and gas beneath a former Mexican land grant, because the grant patentees' successors still owned the subsurface rights. [FN157] The judge acknowledged that "under Spanish and Mexican law, no interest in the minerals passed by grant from the Mexican government ... without express words," [FN158] and that the California Land Act "only confirmed the title of the claimants to the agricultural land." [FN159] But following Moore and Fremont, the court decided that U.S. patents divested the nation of the subsurface property acquired from Mexico, and that to hold otherwise would "do violence" to the Land Act's purpose of settling claims. [FN160] Significantly, Blue went beyond Field's ruling that a patent relinquished the federal title to gold and silver, and applied the doctrine to oil and gas as well.
V. PRIVATIZATION IN NEW MEXICO, ARIZONA, AND TEXAS
  Despite its rather transparent misconstruction of prior law, the doctrine established by Field in 1861 ultimately took hold in New Mexico and Arizona as a result of mineral title litigation, and in Texas via statutory enactment. In 1854 Congress established the Office of the Surveyor General of New Mexico, the southwestern counterpart of the California Land Commission, which was charged with ascertaining "the origin, nature, character, and extent of all claims to lands under the laws, usages, and customs of Spain *79 and Mexico ...." [FN161] The Surveyor General's authority to adjudicate the validity of Hispanic land grants extended over New Mexico and Arizona, which together comprised New Mexico Territory until 1863, when Arizona was organized separately. [FN162]
  Significantly, the 1854 Act was silent on the question of mineral ownership, an omission which opened the door to legal conflict between land grant owners and prospectors. [FN163] For more than thirty years, the question was left unresolved, as Anglo mining promoters lured investors with the romantic history and current potential of New Mexico, where "old mines ... are now constantly being rediscovered [sic] and reopened." [FN164]
  In 1888, the territorial supreme court took an initial position adverse to surface owners, holding in U.S. v. San Pedro & Canon del Agua Company  [FN165] that a land grant patent did not convey and mineral title. After a former Mexican citizen sold his immense tract near Santa Fe, containing gold, silver, copper, and a mining town, to several Americans, [FN166] they formed a corporation and erected extensive stamp and reduction works. [FN167] The federal government sued to invalidate the grant's U.S. patent as fraudulent, maintaining that it was unlikely that the Mexican government would have allowed one individual to monopolize an entire town and region, since many of the local inhabitants were already prospecting and there was a longstanding Spanish and Mexican policy favoring general economic development. [FN168] The New Mexico Supreme Court agreed, setting aside the patent (thus returning the land to the public domain) and stating further that Mexican land grants did not include the minerals below. [FN169] Demonstrating their knowledge *80 of Hispanic law, the justices supported their opinion with the standard translations, as well as with the early California case supporting public subsurface access, Hicks v. Bell. [FN170]
  Prospectors on the San Pedro grant appreciated the significance of the decision, celebrating by firing cannons into the surrounding mountains, while the grant owners frantically attempted to buy up the individual mining claims.  [FN171] The ruling encouraged miners on other New Mexico land claims, who now no longer had to lease or pay royalties. [FN172] Congress also acknowledged San Pedro in its 1891 statute revising grant validation procedures, which declared that "[n]o allowance or confirmation of any claim shall confer any right to any gold, silver, or quicksilver mines" unless the grant specifically included the minerals or the grantee had "become otherwise entitled in law and in equity" (leaving states free to add mineral ownership to the surface estate if they so chose). [FN173] Several years later, the U.S. Supreme Court recognized in dicta that Mexican law as well as the 1891 Act prevented minerals from passing automatically with grants of land originating prior to the American annexation of the Southwest. [FN174]
  Yet despite the general awareness of Hispanic precedent, and of the benefits of public mineral access, the New Mexico Supreme Court reversed itself in 1903. The occasion for the change was quiet title litigation initiated by Thomas Benton Catron, a wealthy Anglo attorney accumulating land grants, who was extremely knowledgeable about Spanish and Mexican law, but wanted untrammeled control over his property. [FN175] In Catron v. Laughlin,  [FN176] the *81 justices accepted the California privatization rationale of Moore v. Smaw, holding for Catron that his U.S. patent operated "as a quit-claim and transfer of any possible interest which our government might have in and to the lands alleged to be within the grants." [FN177] After the Catron decision, minerals beneath a land grant were available for public prospecting only if the surface claimant had failed to perfect the interest under Spanish, Mexican, or U.S. law. [FN178] By 1930, the New Mexico (now state) courts assumed that subsurface rights were included in properties disputed between a land grant community's board of trustees and individual landowners within the grant. [FN179] The judicial distortion of Hispanic mining law in the interest of large landowners has been so thorough in New Mexico that the state's official guide to mineral regulation now considers mines on Spanish land grants to be "part of the area granted." [FN180]
  Ultimately, the New Mexico Supreme Court expanded the privatization doctrine set out in Catron to encompass public access to pasture, water, timber, and roads on land grant "common lands." [FN181] In the 1940 case of H.N.D. Land Co. v. Suazo, [FN182] the owner of the Tierra Amarilla grant (previously the property of land baron Thomas Catron) sued to quiet title against neighbors who claimed customary rights to use common lands within the grant boundaries. [FN183] The parties stipulated at trial that the original 1832 Mexican grant and subsequent conveyances guaranteed free use of certain pastures, wood, water, and roads, [FN184] and that the 1881 U.S. patent explicitly disavowed affecting third party rights. [FN185] Nevertheless, the court cited Catron and ruled that the patent vested absolute title to *82 the common lands in the grantee. [FN186] In a related 1956 decision involving the Tierra Amarilla grant, Martinez v. Mundy, [FN187] the court held that the neighbors had not acquired any of their claimed use rights by prescription. [FN188] Thus, following the mineral privatization trend, New Mexico courts eliminated the common land privileges that had been public under Hispanic law. [FN189]
  Like New Mexico, Arizona was subject to the 1854 Act establishing the Surveyor General's Office, which left the subsurface ownership question unresolved. [FN190] Prospectors pouring into the territory were aware of Hispanic law's relevance for mineral access. [FN191] In an 1864 speech, Arizona governor John Goodwin waxed romantic about Mexican mining law, extolling its anti-monopolistic and pro-development qualities, and suggesting that while Mexico had never prospered because of that country's "distracted condition," adoption of its mineral ordinances would give "full scope to the enterprise and energy of our people." [FN192] The territorial legislature went so far as to incorporate certain portions of Gamboa's Commentaries into Arizona's first mining statute, allowing public prospecting on private land as long as the surface owner was compensated for any damage. [FN193] Perhaps because universal mineral access was guaranteed, no nineteenth-century cases dealt with the issue, [FN194] and the federal 1891 Act simply acknowledged Arizona law by stating that *83 grant confirmations did not include minerals. [FN195]
  But when the Arizona Supreme Court finally focused on subsurface proprietorship, it followed the privatization doctrine established in California and New Mexico. Matters came to a head in the 1925 case of Gallagher v. Boquillas Land & Cattle Company, [FN196] when the corporate owner of a Mexican land grant attempted to quiet title against prospectors excavating gold and silver on its tract. Appealing from an adverse trial court judgment, the miners maintained that under Mexican law it was "early settled" that ordinary land grants did not include gold and silver, [FN197] citing Gamboa, [FN198] and noting that the 1891 Act incorporated this principle.  [FN199] The justices, however, ignored Hispanic law and construed the 1891 Act narrowly, ruling that the latter only reserved from a U.S. patent those mines already "known to contain minerals of such extent and value as to justify expenditures for the purpose of extracting them ...." [FN200] Since there was no evidence that the mines in question were being worked when the patent was issued, they became the property of the grant owner along with the surface estate. [FN201] The court considered that Moore and Fremont had disposed of "the so-called regalian theory ... whereby minerals in the ground are reserved to the government ...," [FN202] and thus brought Arizona in line with Field's approach.
  Texas saw a parallel shift from public mineral sovereignty to privatization, accomplished legislatively, although some courts have limited the scope of private control. In 1840, after Texas revolted from Mexico and became an independent republic (1836-45), its congress adopted the common law but expressly retained Mexican law relating to land grants, colonization, and minerals. [FN203] The maintenance of government control over land and minerals may have reflected the knowledge lawyers and judges during this period had of Hispanic law. [FN204] Familiarity with Spanish and Mexican legal *84 sources, including mining collections, continued after Texas's 1845 annexation and U.S. statehood, as demonstrated by an 1848 memorial referencing the 1783 Reales Ordenanzas de Mineria. [FN205] This awareness would become relevant as many settlers moved to the state, some to exploit its reportedly "vast mineral wealth." [FN206]
  The apogee of public mineral access in Texas came with litigation over a valuable salt spring near the Colorado River in the central part of the state.  [FN207] In the 1862 decision of Cowan v. Hardeman [FN208] the Texas Supreme Court held that the 1840 Act gave the state a reserved right to the salt superior to the rights of both the grant owner and an alleged trespasser.  [FN209] A concurring justice solidly grounded the result in Hispanic law by citing Rockwell's translation of the Reales Ordenanzas in support of the public license to prospect. [FN210]
  But only four years after Cowan, the new Constitution of 1866 included a provision releasing "to the owner of the soil all mines and mineral substances that may be on the same ...," [FN211] ignoring the Hispanic legal tradition and Texas's 1840 legislative retention of Mexican mineral law.  [FN212] One Texas historian has interpreted the relinquishment amendment as a deliberate attempt to override the Spanish and Mexican government ownership principle, which "was so deeply imbedded ... that a constitutional change was required to uproot it." [FN213] Subsequent constitutions repeated the release provision in 1869 [FN214] and 1876. [FN215] When the state supreme court took *85 up the issue in the 1884 case of State v. Parker,  [FN216] it ruled that private landowners, rather than the state, had title to a salt lake, without any mention of Hispanic law.
  On two occasions the Texas Supreme Court has construed the mineral release narrowly in favor of the government, referring back to Spanish and Mexican precedent on subsurface sovereignty. In 1912, the court held in Cox v. Robison  [FN217] that the constitutional relinquishment was only retrospective and did not apply to future conveyances of the public domain, so an application for an unconditional patent to public school land was properly refused. The justices cited "the Mexican law," Cowan, and the 1840 statute, [FN218] and were lauded by the press for "[p]rotecting the children's legacy." [FN219] And in the 1986 decision of Schwarz v. State [FN220] the court found that coal and lignite were not included in the relinquishment and thus were still state-owned, invoking the Siete Partidas provision that the King's mineral reservation did not need to be explicit. [FN221] To establish its privatization regime, Texas, like California, New Mexico and Arizona, ran roughshod over Hispanic law, but in rare instances has resurrected it in support of the public interest.
VI. CONCLUSION
  In the nineteenth-century American West, an idealized view of the Spanish past and a malleable set of legal principles influenced entrepreneurs, lawyers, and judges alike. After initially promoting universal mineral access, courts and legislatures knowingly mis-characterized or ignored Hispanic precedent in order to alienate much of the public domain. Evidence of such distortion casts doubt on the conventional scholarly view of mineral privatization, which has overlooked the issues of inconsistency with pre-Conquest law [FN222] and has ignored the possibility of purposeful misinterpretation. [FN223]
  Privatization is important not only because the courts misused and evaded applicable precedent, but also because they legitimized *86 the environmental damage caused by large-scale mining in the American West. Abandoning the traditional Spanish (and English) policy of tight sovereign control over resource development, [FN224] Biddle Boggs and its progeny reflected the mid-nineteenth-century perspective that authorizing intensive exploitation by private business would promote an industrial economy. According to legal historian Morton Horwitz, by the end of the antebellum period "[d] ominion over land began to be regarded as an absolute right to engage in any conduct on one's property regardless of its economic value." [FN225] Thus the doctrine that a property owner had exclusive control over his subterranean as well as his surface estate was well suited to the needs of the mining industry, which required free rein to employ increasingly elaborate, expensive and ecologically harmful extractive techniques. [FN226]
  In California and other frontier regions, simple placer mining by individuals gave way to complex milling operations, as well as to high-pressure hydraulic methods. [FN227] Quartz or lode mines like Las Mariposas involved timbering tunnels, blasting out roads, crushing ore in stamp mills, and separating out gold or silver with the aid of mercury. [FN228] Such large- scale extraction deforested the area to provide mine reinforcement and fuel, polluted the air with mills and smelters, and contaminated the water through dumped tailings. [FN229] Destruction of vegetation, erosion, and debris accumulation from hydraulic mining has also been well documented. [FN230] While simpler methods had some limited effects in the American West, only the extensive and heavily capitalized enterprises made possible by privatization had a lasting impact on the land. [FN231]
  *87 In August, 1860, John C. Fremont completed a railroad on his estate, to carry gold-bearing quartz down from the mountains to be crushed. [FN232] During the opening ceremony, the supervising engineer proposed a toast to the processing machinery: "The Benton Mills, the modern alchemists, whose magic work extracts gold from stones ...." [FN233] Fremont hoped to wrest gold from the rocks of the Sierras, just as the courts were creating private mineral tracts out of the public subsurface domain. But mounting debts and an inability to attract investment ultimately forced him to sell his interest in the property to creditors in 1863. [FN234]
  Thus, although the legacy of the Fremonts' Las Mariposas was not personal, it prospered in the romantic view that land--and legal doctrine--could be mined for previously unimaginable riches. The jurisprudential perspective of the Fremonts and Stephen Field, that Hispanic law was consistent with private property absolutism, facilitated the loss of the public domain, the concentration of subterranean wealth, and the degradation of the western environment. Rather than learning from another society's concept of the common good, American decisionmakers encouraged individual aggrandizement at the expense of a more balanced allocation of natural resources. [FN235]
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